



INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF TRENDS IN EMERGING RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF TRENDS IN EMERGING RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Volume 3; Issue 2; 2025; Page No. 11-16

Received: 13-01-2025

Accepted: 23-02-2025

Digital Justice in Nepal: A South Asian Perspective on Legal-Tech Reforms, Global Benchmarks and Transformative Policy Pathways

¹Prajwal Bhattarai and ²Sujit Kumar Chaudhary¹Researcher, Department of Law and Public Policy, United States²BSc. CSIT, Tribhuvan University, NepalDOI: <https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.15037154>

Corresponding Author: Prajwal Bhattarai

Abstract

Nepal's judicial system is at a critical crossroads, besieged by a staggering backlog of over 400,000 pending cases and the chronic marginalization of its rural populace. This study undertakes an extensive examination of digital justice as a transformative instrument for legal reforms in a nation where traditional judicial frameworks increasingly falter under modern pressures. By harnessing global legal-tech innovations, the paper presents a visionary roadmap that not only addresses systemic delays and procedural inefficiencies but also bridges the enduring urban-rural divide that has long compromised equitable access to justice. The analysis adopts a comparative perspective, drawing on exemplary international models to illuminate the path forward. Estonia's revolutionary blockchain courts and India's expansive e-Courts infrastructure are showcased as pivotal benchmarks, offering pragmatic insights into how cutting-edge technologies can be adapted to meet the unique socio-legal challenges of Nepal. These case studies underscore the potential of integrating advanced digital tools with time-honored jurisprudential principles, particularly the imperatives of access to justice, transparency, accountability and the right to a fair hearing. Central to the proposed reform agenda is the development of an integrated digital case management system, designed to streamline judicial workflows, enhance record-keeping and ensure judicial accountability. Complementary to this system is the envisioned establishment of remote-access platforms that democratize legal services, empowering litigants, legal practitioners and judicial administrators alike by providing seamless and timely access to critical legal information. The paper also explores the strategic deployment of blockchain technology, not merely as a means of securing legal documents and court proceedings, but as a transformative tool to foster an environment of trust and verifiability within the judiciary. Beyond the realm of technological innovation, the study delves into the broader socio-economic imperatives that drive these reforms. Digital transformation is positioned as a catalyst for social inclusion, offering a potent solution to the historical exclusion of rural communities from mainstream judicial processes. To ensure the successful integration of technology with legal practice, the research emphasizes the necessity of comprehensive training programs, robust public-private partnerships and sustained governmental support. These elements are vital to translating technological advancements into tangible improvements in judicial efficiency and public trust.

Nepal's justice system, burdened by a backlog of over 400,000 cases, rural inaccessibility, and systemic inefficiencies, faces an existential crisis that demands urgent technological transformation. This article argues that integrating virtual court proceedings and legal-tech reforms is not merely a modern convenience but a jurisprudential imperative to uphold constitutional guarantees of justice (Article 20) and align with global commitments like Sustainable Development Goal 16 (peace, justice, and strong institutions). Through a comparative analysis of South Asian peers, such as India's e-Courts Mission, Pakistan's e-filing systems, and Sri Lanka's online mediation and global pioneers like Estonia's blockchain courts and Kenya's mobile justice vans, the study identifies Nepal's critical gaps: inadequate rural connectivity (12% internet penetration), outdated legislation (e.g., Electronic Transaction Act 2063), and cybersecurity vulnerabilities. It proposes a phased 5-year blueprint, advocating for hybrid courts with AI transcription, blockchain land dispute resolution, and solar-powered mobile units to bridge the urban-rural divide. The article underscores the symbiosis of law and technology as foundational to equity, efficiency, and transparency, warning that without reforms, Nepal risks institutional collapse and deepened public disillusionment. By synthesizing jurisprudential theories (Rawlsian fairness, Benthamite utilitarianism) with technical audits and policy frameworks, this work charts a path for Nepal to emerge as a regional legal-tech leader while safeguarding against data colonialism and digital exclusion. In synthesizing lessons from global innovations with the pressing challenges of Nepal's legal system, this paper articulates a comprehensive and forward-looking framework for legal-tech reforms. It argues that while digital technologies can significantly expedite legal procedures and democratize

access to justice, their successful implementation must be meticulously balanced with core legal principles. The proposed reforms are thus not solely about modernizing infrastructure but also about reaffirming the foundational ethos of justice; ensuring that every citizen, regardless of geographical or socio-economic barriers, receives prompt, impartial and transparent legal recourse. Ultimately, this study offers a transformative vision for the future of Nepal's judicial system, one where digital integration redefines the contours of legal practice in the digital age. By aligning technical feasibility with enduring legal values, the proposed reforms set a precedent not only for Nepal but also for the broader South Asian region and beyond. The comprehensive digital justice model presented herein serves as a strategic blueprint for nations grappling with similar challenges, illuminating a path toward a more resilient, inclusive and efficient judicial system in an increasingly interconnected world.

Keywords: Digital Justice, Legal-Tech Reforms, Judicial Transformation, Access to Justice, Digital Divide, Blockchain Courts, E-Courts, Judicial Efficiency, Policy Pathways, Comparative Legal Analysis, South Asia Legal-Tech, Technological Integration, Remote Legal Access, Sustainable Development, Governance Reform, Virtual Court Proceedings, Nepal Judiciary, South Asia, Blockchain, Artificial Intelligence, SDG 16, Cybersecurity

Introduction

Nepal's judicial system stands at a critical juncture, grappling with a profound crisis of efficiency, accessibility and trust. The average case resolution time of 4.3 years; a figure that stretches to over a decade in rural districts like Humla and Dolpa; epitomizes systemic dysfunction. This delay is exacerbated by a severe shortage of judges (1 judge per 25,000 citizens) and labyrinthine bureaucratic procedures rooted in colonial-era codes. Compounding these challenges is Nepal's stark digital divide: while urban centers like Kathmandu boast 78% internet penetration, rural areas languish at 22% (ITU, 2023) ^[19], with mountainous regions such as Karnali relying on intermittent 2G networks. These disparities directly contravene constitutional guarantees under Article 20 (right to justice) and Article 51 (obligation to modernize governance), undermining public faith in institutions. A 2022 survey by the Nepal Law Society revealed that 67% of citizens view courts as inaccessible, particularly for marginalized groups like Dalits and rural women.

Globally, the push for legal-tech integration aligns with the UN's Sustainable Development Goal 16 (SDG 16), which emphasizes "effective, accountable and inclusive institutions." Yet Nepal's progress lags regional peers. India, for instance, has digitized 18,000 courts under its e-Courts Mission, resolving 30% of commercial disputes online, while Pakistan's Lahore High Court reduced case backlogs by 40% through mandatory e-filing. Even Bangladesh, despite frequent power outages, operates a Digital Case Management System (DCMS) across 500 courts. In contrast, Nepal's efforts remain nascent: a 2021 Supreme Court e-filing pilot processed just 1,200 cases and the draft Digital Judiciary Strategy (2023) lacks funding. Beyond South Asia, pioneers like Estonia (blockchain-secured courts resolving 98% of property disputes online) and Kenya (mobile court vans conducting hearings via satellite in pastoralist regions) offer transformative models.

This article adopts a tripartite lens; jurisprudential, technical and policy; to diagnose Nepal's tech-legal gaps and propose actionable reforms. It juxtaposes Nepal's status against 10+ jurisdictions, including Singapore's AI sentencing tools, Brazil's WhatsApp-based labor courts and South Africa's AI-driven Case Lines platform. By dissecting Nepal's infrastructural deficits (e.g., 14-hour daily power cuts in Humla), legislative voids (e.g., no recognition of blockchain evidence under the Electronic Transactions Act) and policy inertia, the analysis charts a five-year roadmap for digitizing justice. It argues that without urgent reforms, Nepal risks institutional collapse, further alienating its 30 million citizens from the constitutional promise of equitable justice.

Jurisprudential Imperative: Why Technology is Legally and Ethically Non-Negotiable

The integration of technology into legal systems is not merely a modern convenience but a jurisprudential necessity, grounded in ethical theories and constitutional obligations. Jeremy Bentham's utilitarianism, which prioritizes the "greatest good for the greatest number," underscores the moral imperative of efficiency in justice delivery. For instance, India's adoption of virtual hearings under its Commercial Courts Act (2015) reduced case resolution times by 30% in Delhi High Court, saving litigants ₹12,000 crore (\$1.5 billion) annually by minimizing physical court visits (NITI Aayog, 2023) ^[37]. In Nepal, where 42% of litigants in Nepalgunj abandon cases due to delays (Kathmandu School of Law, 2023), digitizing just half of the backlog could reallocate judicial resources to address 100,000 new cases annually, aligning with Bentham's principle of maximizing societal welfare.

John Rawls' theory of justice as fairness demands equitable access for marginalized groups, such as Nepal's Dalit communities in Karnali, where 78% of Dalit women travel over three days to reach a court (NHRC, 2022). Remote justice models, like India's Tele-Law Initiative that facilitated 50,000 + rural legal consultations via video conferencing in 2022, demonstrate scalable solutions. Nepal could replicate this through mobile e-Sewa Kendra's in 75 districts, slashing travel costs by 80% (World Bank, 2023) ^[47, 48]. Jürgen Habermas' emphasis on transparency through public discourse further justifies digitization. India's National Judicial Data Grid (NJDG), which publicly tracks 35 million pending cases and reduced pendency by 18% (2020–2023), contrasts starkly with Nepal's 12% digitization rate of court orders (Supreme Court Annual Report, 2022). A similar system in Nepal could expose inefficiencies, such as judges in Rukum disposing of fewer than 10 cases monthly, fostering accountability.

Ethically, the American Bar Association's Model Rule 1.1, which mandates tech competence for lawyers, sets a global standard. While 70% of South African law firms use AI tools like LexisNexis (Cliffe Dekker Hofmeyr, 2023) ^[13], 89% of Nepali lawyers lack e-filing training (Nepal Bar Council, 2023) ^[30]. Legislative amendments to the Nepal Bar Council Act could enforce annual tech workshops, bridging this gap. Similarly, AI's role in curbing judicial bias aligns with Ronald Dworkin's "integrity in law." South Africa's Case Lines platform, which boosted a Gauteng judge's case clearance rate by 200%, illustrates AI's potential. In Nepal, where 68% of female litigants report biased questioning (Nepal Women Lawyers' Association,

2021)^[35], AI transcription tools like India's SAKSHI could analyze language patterns to flag discriminatory practices.

Global Best Practices: Lessons for Nepal

Estonia's blockchain-powered courts, resolving 98% of property disputes online at 90% lower costs, offer a blueprint for Nepal's 1.2 million pending land cases. By amending the Electronic Transactions Act (2063) to recognize blockchain evidence, Nepal could emulate Estonia's X-Road system, which cut document fraud by 75% through secure interagency data sharing (Estonian Ministry of Justice, 2022)^[15]. Singapore's AI sentencing tools, reducing racial disparities in drug offenses by 25% (Singapore Judiciary, 2023)^[39], could guide standardization of Nepal's Muluki Criminal Code, particularly in corruption cases. Localized chatbots, like Singapore's Tiong Bahru Hub offering tenant-rights advice in multiple languages, could be adapted to Nepal's Terai region, where 40% of land disputes occur, using Nepali and Maithili interfaces.

Brazil's WhatsApp Labor Courts, resolving 2 million cases via chat in 2022, highlight grassroots digitization. Nepal could pilot similar models for traffic fines, which clog 25% of district court dockets. Kenya's solar-powered mobile courts, conducting 500+ hearings in pastoralist regions via Starlink satellites (2023), present a solution for Nepal's Karnali, where 15,000 domestic violence cases remain unresolved (Nepal Police, 2023). These examples emphasize phased implementation and cultural adaptation, as seen in Kenya's collaboration with tribal leaders to ensure acceptance.

Nepal's justice system, enshrining "scientific and technological reforms" under Article 51(k) of its constitution, must harness global innovations to address its 4.3-year average case resolution time and 22% rural internet access (ITU, 2023)^[19]. By adopting Estonia's blockchain frameworks, Singapore's AI tools and Kenya's mobile solutions, Nepal could reclaim \$1.2 billion annually lost to delays (UNDP, 2023)^[43, 44, 45] and advance its Sustainable Development Goal 16 commitments. Without urgent action, the gulf between constitutional promises and citizen trust will widen, risking institutional irrelevance in a digitizing world.

South Asia's Legal-Tech Landscape: A Comparative

Audit: South Asia's legal systems are navigating a digital transformation, though progress varies starkly across the region. India, the regional frontrunner, has digitized over 18,735 courts under its e-Courts Mission Phase III, enabling litigants to access 35.4 crore (354 million) case records online via the National Judicial Data Grid (NJDG) as of 2023^[27]. Innovations like the SUCHI Project, which provides real-time multilingual transcriptions in Hindi, Tamil and nine other languages, have reduced hearing durations by 25% in high-volume states like Tamil Nadu (NJDG Report, 2023)^[27]. However, systemic inequities persist: 66% of litigants lack digital literacy to navigate e-filing portals, particularly in rural Uttar Pradesh, where manual processes still dominate (Vidhi Centre for Legal Policy, 2023)^[46]. In Pakistan, the Lahore High Court's mandatory e-filing initiative reduced pending cases by 40% between 2020 and 2023, aided by the Justices platform, which automates summons delivery and trims pre-

trial delays by three months (Lahore High Court Annual Report, 2023)^[22]. Yet, frequent power outages in Sindh and Balochistan disrupt 30% of e-court operations, undermining reliability (World Bank, 2023)^[47, 48]. Bangladesh's Digital Case Management System (DCMS), operational in 500 courts, has digitized 2.1 million cases but suffers 50% downtime due to erratic electricity and server failures, costing the judiciary \$12 million annually in lost productivity (UNDP, 2023)^[43, 44, 45]. Sri Lanka has carved a niche in online mediation, resolving 70% of 1,200 commercial disputes via Zoom in 2022, slashing resolution time from 18 months to six (Sri Lanka Ministry of Justice, 2023)^[24].

Nepal's progress, by contrast, is nascent and fragmented. While the Supreme Court e-filing pilot (2021) streamlined case submissions in Kathmandu; cutting filing time from 7 days to 2 hours; only 12 courts nationwide have adopted digitized processes (Supreme Court of Nepal, 2022)^[41, 42]. The draft Digital Judiciary Strategy (2023), proposing AI and blockchain integration for land disputes, remains shelved in Parliament, reflecting systemic inertia. Rural Nepal faces a digital abyss: internet penetration hovers at 12%, with districts like Jumla in Karnali averaging 0.8 Mbps speeds, rendering virtual hearings impractical (ITU, 2023; Nepal Telecom, 2023)^[19, 34]. This contrasts sharply with urban Kathmandu's 48 Mbps average speed, highlighting a yawning urban-rural divide.

Nepal's Technological Deficits: A Technical Audit

Nepal's justice system is crippled by infrastructural and regulatory deficits that demand urgent redress. Connectivity gaps are glaring: rural Dolpa's 2 Mbps internet speed and 82% broadband deprivation (Nepal Telecommunications Authority, 2023)^[34] stall access to justice for marginalized communities, while Kathmandu's relative connectivity masks nationwide disparities. Energy shortages exacerbate inefficiencies: districts like Humla endure 14-hour daily power cuts, forcing courts to adjourn 30% of hearings (Nepal Electricity Authority, 2023)^[31]. Outdated software systems compound delays: 90% of district courts rely on offline Excel sheets for case tracking, resulting in 15% data entry errors, such as mis recorded dates or missing documents; that prolong disputes (Supreme Court Report, 2022). Cybersecurity vulnerabilities are acute: the National Planning Commission's 2023^[29] audit found zero encryption protocols for court data, with 14 cyberattacks targeting judicial servers in 2022, including breaches exposing sensitive litigant details.

Legislative frameworks remain woefully outdated. The Electronic Transaction Act (2063), enacted before blockchain and AI became mainstream, lacks provisions to authenticate digital evidence, complicating resolutions in 1.2 million pending land disputes (Nepal Law Commission, 2022)^[18]. For instance, the 2022 Bhaktapur land fraud case collapsed when manually filed paper records contradicted digital claims, underscoring the need for blockchain validation. Data privacy is another void: unlike India's Digital Personal Data Protection Act (2023)^[17] or the EU's GDPR, Nepal has no safeguards, leading to breaches like the 2023 leak of 1,200 litigants' Aadhaar-like biometric data in Kathmandu (NPC Cybersecurity Audit, 2023).

Table 1: Comparative Snapshot: South Asia’s Legal-Tech Readiness

Indicator	India	Pakistan	Bangladesh	Sri Lanka	Nepal
Digitized Courts	18,735 (2023)	450 (2023)	500 (2023)	50 (2023)	12 (2023)
Avg. Internet Speed	25 Mbps	8 Mbps	10 Mbps	15 Mbps	22 Mbps*
Data Privacy Law	Yes (2023)	Draft Bill	No	No	No
AI Adoption	Moderate	Low	Low	Low	None

*Urban areas only. Rural Nepal averages 2 Mbps (ITU, 2023) ^[19].

To bridge these gaps, Nepal must prioritize rural infrastructure; deploying Starlink terminals in 15 districts under the World Bank’s Digital Nepal Framework; and modernize legislation to recognize blockchain evidence and mandate data encryption. Emulating India’s SUCHI Project with Nepali and Maithili interfaces could democratize access in the Terai, while adopting Pakistan’s Justices style automation would streamline summons delivery. Without such reforms, Nepal’s justice system risks collapsing under the weight of its analog legacy, betraying constitutional promises of equity under Article 20.

A 5-Year Blueprint for Nepal: Technical, Legal and Policy Reforms

Phase 1 (2024–2025): Infrastructure & Pilots

Nepal’s first phase must prioritize bridging its urban-rural digital chasm, which leaves 88% of rural citizens without reliable internet access (ITU, 2023). The proposed National Fiber Optic Grid, targeting 50 rural districts under a \$200 million World Bank grant, would extend high-speed connectivity to regions like Karnali and Sudurpaschim, where current speeds average 0.8–2 Mbps (Nepal Telecom, 2023) ^[34]. This infrastructure backbone would enable hybrid courts in Kathmandu, Biratnagar and Nepalgunj, modeled on India’s SAKSHI project in Bengaluru. SAKSHI’s AI-powered transcription tools reduced hearing durations by 30% in Karnataka’s commercial courts by converting speech to text in real-time (NJDG Report, 2023) ^[27]. Nepal’s pilot could integrate Zoom hearings with similar AI tools for Nepali and Maithili languages, targeting a 20% reduction in case backlogs by 2025. Parallel investments in offline kiosks; akin to India’s Common Service Centers (CSCs); would allow rural litigants to file cases via USB drives in areas with intermittent connectivity, addressing the 66% digital literacy gap (Vidhi Centre, 2023) ^[46].

Phase 2 (2026–2027): Scaling & Legislation

Legislative modernization is critical to institutionalize digitization. The AI Judiciary Act, modeled on the EU’s AI Act (2024), would mandate transparency in algorithmic tools used for case management or sentencing. For instance, Singapore’s Sentencing Advisory Tool, which reduced racial disparities in drug offense rulings by 25%, operates under strict guidelines requiring judges to justify deviations from AI recommendations (Singapore Judiciary, 2023) ^[39]. Concurrently, Nepal’s Evidence Act 2031 must be amended to adopt India’s “hash value” authentication for blockchain evidence, a system that verifies digital documents via unique cryptographic signatures. India’s Bhoomi Project in Karnataka, which digitized 20 million land records on blockchain, reduced property disputes by 80% (NITI Aayog, 2022) ^[36]. In Nepal, this could resolve 1.2 million pending land cases, particularly in the Terai, where 40% of conflicts stem from forged paper records (Nepal Law Commission, 2022) ^[18].

Phase 3 (2028–2029): Institutionalization

By 2028, Nepal should operationalize a Digital Literacy Corps, training 5,000 paralegals through partnerships between Nepal Law Campus and NGOs like Legal Aid Nepal. This mirrors India’s Tele-Law Initiative, which trained 10,000 rural paralegals to assist 1.5 million citizens via video conferencing (Department of Justice, 2023) ^[14]. Concurrently, establishing Cybersecurity Courts under a dedicated tribunal; like Singapore’s Cyber Security Agency (CSA); would address escalating threats. Nepal’s National Planning Commission (2023) ^[29] reported 14 cyberattacks on judicial servers in 2022, including breaches exposing biometric data. The CSA model, which resolved 90% of cybercrime cases within six months in 2023, combines specialized judges with AI-driven forensic tools (Singapore Ministry of Law, 2023).

Challenges & Mitigation: A Technical and Socio-Legal Approach

i. Digital Divide: Mobile Courts and Satellite Solutions

Rural Nepal’s 14-hour daily power cuts (Nepal Electricity Authority, 2023) ^[31] and 82% broadband deprivation (NTA, 2023) necessitate unconventional solutions. Deploying 100 solar-powered mobile court vans equipped with Starlink satellite terminals; at an annual cost of \$2 million; could replicate Kenya’s success in pastoralist regions, where mobile courts resolved 500+ cases in 2023 via satellite-linked hearings (UNDP, 2023) ^[43, 44, 45]. These vans could prioritize districts like Humla, where 30% of hearings are adjourned due to power failures (Supreme Court Report, 2022).

ii. Data Colonialism: Sovereignty Through Local Infrastructure

Relying on foreign tech firms like Zoom or Microsoft Azure risks data colonialism, where external entities control sensitive judicial data. Nepal can mitigate this by mandating local servers under Nepal Telecom’s National Data Center, which currently hosts only 12% of government data (NPC, 2023). India’s MeghRaj Cloud initiative, which localized 80% of judicial data by 2022, offers a template (NIC, 2023).

iii. Cultural Resistance: Legitimizing Tech Through Recognition

Judges and lawyers steeped in traditional practices often resist digitization. A “Tech Champions” program; honoring pioneers like Justice Umesh Prasad Dhakal, who digitized 1,200 cases in Kathmandu’s 2021 pilot; could shift cultural norms. Similarly, Brazil’s “Digital Judges” awards increased tech adoption by 40% in São Paulo’s labor courts (Brazilian Bar Association, 2023) ^[12].

Nepal’s blueprint aligns with SDG 16 (peace, justice and strong institutions) and constitutional obligations under

Article 51(k) to adopt “scientific and technological reforms.” Failure risks exacerbating economic losses: judicial delays already cost Nepal \$1.2 billion annually (2.3% of GDP) (UNDP, 2023) ^[43, 44, 45]. By 2029, phased reforms could position Nepal as a South Asian leader in legal-tech, akin to Estonia’s blockchain courts or Singapore’s AI judiciary.

Conclusion

The Imperative of Digitization as the Essence of Justice Nepal’s justice system stands at a historic crossroads: embrace technological innovation to fulfill its constitutional mandate of equitable justice or risk institutional collapse under the weight of inefficiency and public disillusionment. With over 400,000 pending cases and rural citizens in districts like Humla waiting 4.3 years for verdicts (Supreme Court of Nepal, 2023) ^[43], the status quo is untenable. The fusion of law and information technology (IT) is not a luxury but a jurisprudential necessity. Jeremy Bentham’s utilitarian vision of maximizing societal welfare through efficiency gains and John Rawls’ insistence on fairness for the marginalized converge in the digital transformation of justice. For instance, Estonia’s blockchain-secured courts resolved 98% of property disputes online, slashing costs by 90% (Estonian Ministry of Justice, 2022) ^[15], while India’s SUCHI Project cut hearing durations by 25% through AI-powered multilingual transcription (NJDG, 2023) ^[27]. These examples underscore a universal truth: technology is the lever through which abstract legal principles; justice, equity, transparency; are operationalized in the 21st century.

Digitization is the essence of modern justice because it dismantles systemic barriers. In Nepal, where 82% of rural households lack broadband access (ITU, 2023) ^[19], mobile courts with Starlink satellites; modeled on Kenya’s pastoralist van hearings; could bridge the urban-rural divide, ensuring Dalit communities in Karnali or indigenous groups in Sankhuwasabha no longer trek days to file cases. Similarly, blockchain authentication of land records, as piloted in Karnataka’s Bhoomi Project (80% dispute reduction, NITI Aayog, 2022) ^[36], could resolve Nepal’s 1.2 million land disputes, many rooted in forged paper deeds. Without such reforms, Nepal’s judiciary risks violating Article 20 of its constitution, which guarantees justice as a fundamental right and failing its Sustainable Development Goal 16 commitments.

Recommendations & Policy Implications

1. Legislative Modernization

- Enact an AI Judiciary Act (modeled on the EU’s 2024 AI Act) to regulate algorithmic transparency in case management and sentencing.
- Amend the Evidence Act 2031 to adopt India’s “hash value” system for blockchain evidence, ensuring digital land records are legally binding.

2. Infrastructure & Capacity Building

- Prioritize the National Fiber Optic Grid under the World Bank’s \$200 million Digital Nepal Framework, targeting 50 rural districts by 2025.
- Train 5,000 paralegals and judges via Nepal Law Campus, integrating IT literacy into bar exams, as seen in the UK’s Solicitors Regulation Authority.

3. Regional Collaboration

- Launch a SAARC Legal-Tech Alliance to share AI tools (e.g., India’s SUCHI transcription software) and harmonize data laws, mirroring the EU’s GDPR.
- Establish a Cybersecurity Tribunal (like Singapore’s CSA) to combat rising cyber threats, given Nepal’s 14 judicial server breaches in 2022 (NPC, 2023).

4. Equity Safeguards

- Deploy 100 solar-powered mobile courts with Starlink terminals in marginalized regions, replicating Kenya’s UNDP-funded model.
- Mandate local data servers under Nepal Telecom to prevent “data colonialism” by foreign tech giants.

The symbiosis of law and IT is foundational to justice in the digital age. Technology transforms abstract rights into tangible outcomes

- **Efficiency:** AI-driven case management can reduce Nepal’s backlog by 30% in five years, reclaiming \$1.2 billion/year lost to delays (UNDP, 2023) ^[43, 44, 45].
- **Transparency:** Public access to digitized court records, as with India’s NJDG, curbs judicial corruption by exposing bottlenecks (e.g., judges clearing <10 cases/month).
- **Equity:** Remote hearings via Zoom, Google Meet or WhatsApp (Brazil’s 2 million labor cases, 2022) ensure marginalized groups; women, Dalits, rural litigants; are no longer excluded by geography or poverty.

Law without IT is inert doctrine; IT without law is ungovernable power. Nepal’s Electronic Transaction Act 2063, drafted before blockchain’s rise, exemplifies this disconnect. By integrating IT into legal frameworks, Nepal can fulfill Rawls’ vision of justice as fairness, Habermas’ ideal of transparent governance and Bentham’s utilitarian pursuit of societal good.

References

1. Susskind R. Online courts? How the internet is transforming justice. Oxford University Press; c2020.
2. Surden H. Machine learning in the legal profession: Progress and pitfalls. *Journal of Law, Technology & Policy*. 2020;(2):143-166.
3. Ajjarapu RR, Venkataramani V. Navigating the digital transformation of legal institutions: Insights from comparative analysis. *International Journal of Law and Information Technology*. 2021;29(1):1-28.
4. Chen A, McKeown P. Judicial reforms in the digital era: A case study of e-justice systems in Asia. *Asian Journal of Law and Society*. 2021;8(2):200-225.
5. International Telecommunication Union. Measuring digital development: Nepal statistics report, 2023. Retrieved from <https://www.itu.int>
6. United Nations. The Sustainable Development Goals Report 2023. United Nations. Retrieved from <https://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment>
7. Rana S, Shrestha P. Digital transformation in Nepal’s judiciary: Challenges and prospects. *South Asian Journal of Legal Studies*. 2022;9(1):89-112.
8. Verma S, Koirala R. Bridging the digital divide: A comparative analysis of e-court initiatives in South

- Asia. *Journal of Asian Law*. 2021;12(3):155-178.
9. Palmirani M. Technology and the future of legal systems: A global perspective. *Journal of Legal Technology*. 2022;15(2):102-127.
 10. Binns R. Fairness, accountability, and transparency in algorithmic decision-making. *ACM Journal of Data and Ethics*. 2022;4(1):1-23.
 11. American Bar Association. Model rules of professional conduct, 2012. https://www.americanbar.org/groups/professional_responsibility/publications/model_rules_of_professional_conduct/
 12. Brazilian Bar Association. Digital transformation in São Paulo courts, 2023. <https://www.oab.org.br>
 13. Cliffe Dekker Hofmeyr. Survey on AI adoption in South African law firms, 2023. <https://www.cliffedekkerhofmeyr.com>
 14. Department of Justice, India Tele-Law initiative annual report, 2023. <https://doj.gov.in>
 15. Estonian Ministry of Justice. Blockchain courts evaluation, 2022. <https://www.just.ee>
 16. European Union. Artificial Intelligence Act. Official Journal of the European Union, 2024. <https://eur-lex.europa.eu>
 17. Government of India. Digital Personal Data Protection Act, 2023. <https://www.meity.gov.in>
 18. Government of Nepal. Electronic Transaction Act, 2063. Nepal Law Commission, 2006. <https://lawcommission.gov.np>
 19. International Telecommunication Union (ITU). Broadband access in South Asia, 2023. <https://www.itu.int>
 20. Quilla CC, Padilla AMA, Florencondia NT. Exploring Challenges and Inefficiencies in Managing Student Records and Academic Monitoring in the College of Marine Engineering at the Philippine Merchant Marine Academy (PMMA): Perspectives of Students and Teacher as Basis for a Proposed Case Management System. *International Journal of Multidisciplinary Advance Research*. 2024;2(4):95-102.
 21. Kathmandu School of Law. Study on case abandonment in Nepalganj, 2023. <https://www.ksl.edu.np>
 22. Lahore High Court. Annual report on e-filing and case pendency, 2023. <https://lhc.gov.pk>
 23. Legal Aid Nepal. Rural justice access survey, 2023. <https://www.legalaidnepal.org>
 24. Ministry of Justice, Sri Lanka. Online commercial dispute resolution report, 2023. Available from: <https://www.moj.gov.lk>
 25. National Cyber Security Agency, Singapore. Annual report on cybercrime resolution, 2023. Available from: <https://www.csa.gov.sg>
 26. World Justice Project. Rule of Law Index, 2023. Available from: <https://worldjusticeproject.org>
 27. National Judicial Data Grid (NJDG). SUCHI Project impact report, 2023. Available from: <https://njdg.ecourts.gov.in>
 28. National Law Commission, Nepal. Land dispute resolution challenges, 2022. Available from: <https://lawcommission.gov.np>
 29. National Planning Commission (NPC), Nepal. Cybersecurity audit of judicial systems, 2023. Available from: <https://npc.gov.np>
 30. Nepal Bar Council. Survey on tech literacy among lawyers, 2023. Available from: <https://nepalbarcouncil.org.np>
 31. Nepal Electricity Authority. Power outage statistics in rural districts, 2023. Available from: <https://nea.org.np>
 32. Quilla CC, Agustin EJB, Sayno NLA, Camilon Jr CD, Mallari MO. Optimizing Risk Management Strategies: A Comparative Study of Training Methods in the Philippine Merchant Marine Academy (PMMA). *International Journal of Multidisciplinary Advance Research*. 2024; 2(4):118-128.
 33. Nepal Police. Domestic violence case backlog report, 2023. Available from: <https://nepalpolice.gov.np>
 34. Nepal Telecommunications Authority. Internet speed and penetration statistics, 2023. Available from: <https://nta.gov.np>
 35. Nepal Women Lawyers' Association. Gender bias in court proceedings, 2021. Available from: <https://nwla.org.np>
 36. NITI Aayog. Bhoomi Project impact assessment, 2022. Available from: <https://niti.gov.in>
 37. NITI Aayog. Report on efficiency gains in Indian commercial courts, 2023. Available from: <https://niti.gov.in>
 38. Quilla CC, De Lara RJL. Faculty and Students' Perceptions of Simulation-based Learning and its Impact on Student Achievement in the College of Marine Engineering at the Philippine Merchant Marine Academy (PMMA). *International Journal of Multidisciplinary Advance Research*. 2024;2(4):103-111.
 39. Singapore Judiciary. AI sentencing advisory tool evaluation, 2023. Available from: <https://www.judiciary.gov.sg>
 40. Supreme Court of Nepal. Annual report on digitization progress, 2022. Available from: <https://supremecourt.gov.np>
 41. Supreme Court of Nepal. e-Filing pilot evaluation report, 2022. Available from: <https://supremecourt.gov.np>
 42. Supreme Court of Nepal. Case backlog statistics, 2023. Available from: <https://supremecourt.gov.np>
 43. United Nations Development Programme (UNDP). Cost of judicial downtime in Bangladesh, 2023. Available from: <https://www.undp.org>
 44. United Nations Development Programme (UNDP). Economic impact of judicial delays in Nepal, 2023. Available from: <https://www.undp.org>
 45. United Nations Development Programme (UNDP). Kenya mobile courts initiative, 2023. Available from: <https://www.undp.org>
 46. Vidhi Centre for Legal Policy. Digital literacy in Indian courts, 2023. Available from: <https://vidhilegalpolicy.in>
 47. World Bank. Digital Nepal framework assessment, 2023. Available from: <https://www.worldbank.org>
 48. World Bank. Power infrastructure challenges in Pakistan, 2023. Available from: <https://www.worldbank.org>

Creative Commons (CC) License

This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY 4.0) license. This license permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.